
 

MINUTES OF THE ANDOVER TOWNSHIP LAND USE BOARD MEETING HELD 

SEPTEMBER 6, 2016 
 
 

OPEN MEETING:  Chairman Howell called the meeting to order at 7:30 p.m.   
 
FLAG SALUTE: Chairman Howell led the flag salute. 

 

ROLL CALL: 

 

Ken Roberts – Present  

Paul Messerschmidt, Vice Chairman –  Present  

CeCe Pattison – Absent 

Ellsworth Bensley, Jr., – Present  

Dolores Blackburn – Present  

Eric Olsen – Present  

John O'Connell – Present  

Suzanne Howell, Chairman – Present  

Richard Skewes (Alternate 2) – Present  

Wayne Grenewicz (Alternate 4) – Absent 

 

PROFESSIONALS PRESENT:   

 

Richard Brigliadoro, Esq., Joseph R. Golden, P.E., P.P., C.M.E., and 

Jessica C. Caldwell, PP, AICP, LEED GA 

  

 

OPEN PUBLIC MEETINGS ACT NOTICE: Chairman Howell read the following 

statement: This is an open public meeting of the Andover Township Land Use Board.   

Notice of this meeting was given in accordance with the Open Public Meetings Act, Chapter 

231, Public Law 85.   

 
 
MINUTES:   Minutes of the Andover Township Land Use Board Meeting Held August 2, 2016:  

A motion to approve was made by Richard Skewes and seconded by Paul Messerschmidt.  There 

was no discussion.   Roll Call: Ken Roberts – yes, Paul Messerschmidt – yes, Ellsworth Bensley, 

Jr., – yes, Dolores Blackburn – yes, Eric Olsen – yes, John O'Connell – yes, Richard Skewes – 

yes, Suzanne Howell – yes.  The motion carried.  

 

 

RESOLUTIONS:  There were no resolutions scheduled. 

 

 

COMPLETENESS REVIEW:  There were no matters scheduled for review. 

 

 



Minutes of the Andover Township Land Use Board Meeting Held September 6, 2016 

Page 2 of 5 

 

 

HEARINGS:   A-1-16-1, IAT Reinsurance Co. LTD., D Variance, Block 5 Lot 1:  Ineligible 

Class I, II, and III Board members — Dolores Blackburn, Eric Olsen, and Ellsworth Bensley, Jr., 

left the dais.  Richard Brigliadoro, Esq., confirmed five Board members were present to hear the 

matter and advised the Applicant that any approval requires the affirmative vote of at least five 

Board members.  Mr. Ursin acknowledged same and elected to proceed. 

 

Mr. Ursin discussed the history and purpose of the application.  He stated the Applicant’s intent 

to acquire a permit from the New Jersey State Police to store firearms and ammunition within the 

newly constructed barn.  He explained that constructing the storage room within the new barn is 

an effort to make the best use of Hudson Farm’s structures by consolidating uses within existing 

buildings. He noted N.J.A.C. 13:54-6.1 regulates the proposed use, and he stated Hudson Farms 

holds the desired New Jersey State Police permit in other locations.  

 

Mr. Ursin explained the New Jersey State Police permitting process requires the procurement of 

a township land use approval. He stated a request for “D” Variance relief was submitted 

following the denial of an Andover Township Zoning Permit application. He stated the Applicant 

requests permission to store ammunition and firearms in a 20' x 30' room within the barn 

identified as Barn E. Mr. Ursin presented the room designated for the proposed storage was 

constructed to State Police standards.  He opined that a fire in the storage room would produce 

small explosions similar to firecrackers exploding.  He confirmed there would be no reloading 

and ammunition would be a finished product. He stated 12-gauge would be the largest shell 

stored. It was noted that neither the Andover Township Police nor Andover Township Fire 

Department forwarded objections to the matter.  Mr. Ursin stated no expansion of uses is 

proposed and activity at the site will continue as it has for the past five to seven years.   

 

With reference to the location of the proposed use, Mr. Ursin stated Hudson Farm operates on 

3500 acres across the four municipalities of Hopatcong, Sparta, Byram, and Andover; and the 

section of the subject property under review is contiguous with Byram Township.  He noted the 

Andover Township portion of the farm consists of 370 acres, and a majority of the Andover 

Township property is to be preserved via the Green Acres Program.  Mr. Ursin stated that the 

location of the barn lends itself to the use as it is one of the safest areas on the farm.  He 

identified two driveways that access the barn and stated they pass by employee’s homes.  He 

confirmed that access to the storage room would be restricted to employees.  He stated there 

would be no increase in activity at the barn as the prior barn was used for storage.  He stated the 

use is imperceptible to the outside world. 

 

John E. Hansen, P.E, P.P, CME, LEED, was sworn, qualified, and accepted as an expert witness. 

Referencing the plan distributed to the Board titled Variance Plan, Hudson Farm West, Lot 1  ̴

Block 5, (Tax Map Sheet No. 3,) Township of Andover, Sussex County, New Jersey, Sheet 1 of 1, 

dated 5/13/16, signed by Paul W. Ferriero, P.E.  Mr. Hansen provided an overview of the 

property.  He stated the Andover Township portion of the farm is located in the R-3 Zone; and 

the property is served by septic, a well, and overhead utilities.  He described the property as 

mostly wooded and as containing multiple structures. 

 

With reference to the proposed use, Mr. Hansen submitted two exhibits and described them as 

follows:    



Minutes of the Andover Township Land Use Board Meeting Held September 6, 2016 

Page 3 of 5 

 

 

 Exhibit A-1, was described as a plan sheet depicting the location of the subject barn on 

the plan, four photographs of the barn taken from different directions, and one photograph of a 

residence in close proximity to the barn. This exhibit is titled Photo Key Exhibit 1, Hudson Farm 

West, Lot 1 ̴ Block 5, Sheet 1 of 1, dated 7/28/16, signed by Paul W. Ferriero, P.E. 

  

 Exhibit A-2, a floor plan of the barn and proposed 600 sq.ft. commercial storage space 

with two inserted photographs showing the interior of the storage room, was marked.  This 

exhibit is titled Barn Building, 270 Stanhope Road, Andover, New Jersey, 07821, IAT 

Reinsurance, Floor Plan, dated 6/12/15.  The name of John T. Dalessio, P.E., P.P., appears on 

the plan. 

 

Referencing the exhibits, Mr. Hansen stated the proposed use is complementary to the existing 

uses on the farm.  He confirmed no exterior improvements were proposed.  He stated no 

environmental degradation would occur.  He discussed the location of the use stating it is 

particularly suitable as it would be properly secure and monitored by employees.  He stated the 

use is unique, and it was not contemplated for the zone.  

 

Further, Mr. Hansen identified the special reasons for granting the variance citing  

N.J.S. 40:55d-2 (g) and N.J.S. 40:55d-2 (j).  He opined that the negative criteria were satisfied, 

as there would be no detriment to the public good or zone scheme.  He stated the use is 

consistent with the Andover Township Master Plan. 

 

Board members reviewed the report of Board planning expert Jessica C. Caldwell, PP, AICP, 

LEED GA, dated 7/28/16.  Ms. Caldwell asked if the site was the most suitable location for the 

use.  Mr. Ursin confirmed that it was.  He explained storage operations at the farm noting storage 

can overlap across structures.  With reference to the conditional use criteria for the storage of 

firearms set forth in Section 190-54 of the Andover Township Code noted in Ms. Caldwell’s 

report, Mr. Hansen reviewed the criteria.  Mr. Ursin noted the New Jersey State Police 

superseded many of the conditions listed.  Mr. Hansen stated he did not know of a case where 

storage of ammunition constituted a fire hazard.  Mr. Ursin stated identification symbols for the 

fire department are required on the exterior of the building.  

  

Chairman Howell opened the meeting to the public.  Mr. Harvey Roseff was sworn.  He spoke 

about a prior application made to the Board by the Applicant.  He stated the Board and Township 

Committee never approved the current use of a shooting preserve and a “D” Variance builds on a 

permitted use.   He stated the use is storing goods for a use that has not been approved in 

Andover Township; and the proposed activity is not building on a permitted use.  He stated the 

property has steep slopes, acidic soils, and wetlands.  He stated the real issue is if the property is 

sliding to a commercial use.   Mr. Roseff stated he believed the use is particularly suited for the 

Hopatcong portion of the property.  

 

Objector’s Exhibit O-1, a memorandum to Jayme Alfano, Township Administrator from Fred 

Semrau, Esq., dated June 19, 2009, re:  Hudson Farm Commercial Shooting Preserve was 

marked.  Mr. Roseff presented the opinion of Mr. Semrau that if commercial shooting were to  

 



Minutes of the Andover Township Land Use Board Meeting Held September 6, 2016 

Page 4 of 5 

 

 

occur on the premises, the property would have to receive appropriate approval from the 

Andover Township Land Use Board.   

 

Objector’s Exhibit O-2, a letter to Thomas Germinario, Esq., from Fred Semrau, Esq., dated 

February 20, 2009 re:  Township of Andover Hudson Farms/Westby Preserve was submitted.  

Mr. Roseff noted that the transmittal indicates that if the commercial hunting were to proceed, it 

should go before the Board.  Board Attorney Brigliadoro related the contents of the Objector’s 

Exhibits to the Board as well. 

 

Mr. Ursin commented that the New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection issued the 

Commercial Shooting Preserve Permit that includes the subject property.  He stated there are no 

shooting ranges on the Andover Township portion of the property.   

 

Ms. Dianne Gillespie was sworn.  She reviewed the contents of the barn’s 2014 Andover 

Township Zoning Permit stating the permit reads, “the new barn will not have a commercial 

use.” She opined that the proposed storage does not support the approved farming activity.  

Objector’s Exhibit O-3 was submitted.  The exhibit displayed Andover Township Code Book 

Chapter 55-15 — Variance Procedure information.  She stated that “D” Variances are a big deal 

and the standards of proof are tougher.  Referencing the exhibit, she discussed “D” Variances.  

Board attorney Brigliadoro reviewed the Municipal Land Use Law and “D” Variance arguments.   

 

Ms. Gillespie presented that the Applicant has alternative locations in the township to locate the 

storage.  She stated there is no need to locate the storage on the Andover side of the property.  

She also asked if people pay a fee to hunt on the property.  Mr. Ursin responded the hunters are 

members of the club and their guests.    He stated the Court permitted this use. 

 

Mr. Wilfred Gillespie was sworn.  He spoke about a court case and a prior application.  He stated 

the proposal is a back door attempt to let all of it into Andover Township.  He discussed the 

zoning officer’s findings on subsequent inspections of the property. He stated the Applicant 

ignored the regulation.  Mr. Ursin stated the stored ammunition was moved and the Applicant 

has cooperated with the zoning officer.  He confirmed he was present at the first site inspection. 

 

Having no other members of the public wishing to address the Board, Chairman Howell closed 

the meeting to the public. 

 

A motion to approve the “D” Variance for a use not permitted in the zone to allow the storage of 

ammunition and firearms in Barn E conditioned upon the storage being used by the farm with no 

members of the public to go to the site and with no retail element was made by Richard Skewes 

and seconded by John O'Connell. Roll Call: Ken Roberts – yes, Paul Messerschmidt – yes, John 

O'Connell – yes, Richard Skewes – yes, Suzanne Howell – yes.  The motion carried.  

  

Chairman Howell called a 10-minute recess at 9:22 p.m. The meeting was called to order  

at 9:33 p.m. 

   

Andover Township Master Plan Amendment: Housing Element and Fair Share Plan, 

Andover Township, Sussex County, New Jersey, August 2, 2016 - Jessica C. Caldwell, PP, 



Minutes of the Andover Township Land Use Board Meeting Held September 6, 2016 

Page 5 of 5 

 

 

AICP, LEED GA, was sworn.  She presented the Andover Township Housing Element and Fair 

Share Plan, September 6, 2016 and reviewed an amendment made in accordance with a 

settlement agreement with Fair Share Housing Center, Inc.   

 

She explained the amendment consists of a durational adjustment that will reduce the 

Township’s affordable housing obligation down until public utilities are available.   

Ms. Caldwell agreed to update numbers on page 17, paragraph two. She recommended the 

continuation of the Township’s  affordable housing policy. 

 

The matter was opened to the public.  No members of the public addressed the Board.  There was 

no further discussion.  A motion to adopt was made by Paul Messerschmidt  

and seconded by Eric Olsen.  Roll Call: Ken Roberts – yes, Paul Messerschmidt – yes, Ellsworth 

Bensley, Jr., – yes, Dolores Blackburn – yes, Eric Olsen – yes, John O'Connell – yes, Richard 

Skewes – yes, Suzanne Howell – yes.  The motion carried.  

 

 

PUBLIC PORTION: Chairman Howell opened to the public. No members of the public 

addressed the Board.  The meeting was closed to the public. 

 

 

OLD/NEW BUSINESS:  Chairman Howell noted the importance of consistent attendance and 

punctuality.  Board members agreed to prepare for a budget discussion on September 20, 2016. 

  

 

VOUCHERS:  A motion to recommend payment of the bills to the Township Committee was 

made by Ellsworth Bensley, Jr., and seconded by John O'Connell.  There was no discussion. Roll 

Call: Ken Roberts – yes, Paul Messerschmidt – yes, Ellsworth Bensley, Jr., – yes, Dolores 

Blackburn – yes, Eric Olsen – yes, John O'Connell – yes, Richard Skewes – yes, Suzanne 

Howell – yes.  The motion carried.  

 

 

ADJOURNMENT:  Having no further business, a motion to adjourn was made by John 

O'Connell. All were in favor. The motion carried. The meeting concluded at 9:50 p.m. 

      

Minutes respectfully submitted by: 

 
     /s/Anne-Marie Wilhelm  

     Anne-Marie Wilhelm 

     Land Use Administrator  


